

For use with the XPressEntry Mobile Access Control System

By



#### **Important Notice**

Your right to copy XPressEntry software and this manual is limited by copyright laws. Making copies, adaptations, or compilation works (except copies of XPressEntry software for archival purposes as an essential step in the utilization of the program in conjunction with the equipment), without prior written authorization of Telaeris, Inc., is prohibited by law and constitutes a punishable violation of the law.

This software and documentation are copyrighted by Telaeris, Inc. The software and documentation are licensed, not sold, and may be used or copied only in accordance with the Telaeris License Agreement accompanying the software.

© 2023 Telaeris, Inc.

All rights reserved worldwide.

Information in this document is subject to change without notice.

No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted, in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, scanning, digitizing, or otherwise, without the prior written consent of Telaeris, Inc.

Trademark Acknowledgements XPressEntry is a trademark of Telaeris, Inc. Microsoft, Windows, and Access are trademarks or registered trademarks of Microsoft Corporation.

Other company and product names may be trademarks or registered trademarks of their respective companies and are hereby acknowledged.

Telaeris, Inc. 4101 Randolph Street San Diego, California 92103 United States of America

(858) 627-9700

www.telaeris.com

# Table of Contents

Purpose	4
Requirements	4
Minimum Database Permissions Required	4
Setting Up Symmetry to Synchronize with XPressEntry	4
Data Connect	4
Applying the License Key	4
Configuring Data Connect	5
Setup Symmetry Data and Settings	
Handhelds	5
XPressEntry LAN Chain	5
XPressEntry Nodes	7
Adding XPressEntry Handhelds	8
All Readers	9
Enable Synchronization	9
General Tab	10
Reader Profile Tab	
Data Manager Tab	
Sync Timers	12
Sync Options	14
Symmetry Setup	15
Connection Tab	15
User Pull Tab	16
Custom Field Mapping	17
Activity Settings Tab	17
HSE SR Series Setup	18
Symmetry Sync Check	19
Symmetry > XPressEntry	
Companies and Readers	
Users	
User Permissions	21
Time Zones	
Configuring XPressEntry using Symmetry Data	24
Doors	
Readers	
Activities	

## Purpose

The purpose of this page is to instruct the user on how to synchronize an XPressEntry System with the AMAG Symmetry software.

## Requirements

It is assumed that a version of Symmetry is installed on a server prior to integration with XPressEntry.

- 1. Symmetry 8.1 or older
  - a. Advanced Reporting 8.1 (or 8.1.3) ISO is required for Integration. Please contact your AMAG dealer to receive the Advanced Reporting installer.
- 2. Symmetry HSE 8.1
  - a. Requires **patch number 180601** from AMAG. Without this patch, transactions submitted to Symmetry from XPressEntry will not be able to identify the user.
- 3. Symmetry 9.X
  - a. Contains Advanced Reporting database views built in. No additional Advanced Reporting installer is needed.
- 4. All versions
  - a. Data Connect License from AMAG
  - b. Must configure Data Connect for database integration, not for text file integration
    - i. Set DataExportEnabled=1 within the multimax.ini
    - ii. Set DataImportEnabled=1 within the multimax.ini

## Minimum Database Permissions Required

At a minimum, the service account running the XPressEntry service needs the following permissions to the AMAG database.

- 1. multiMAX- db\_datareader
- 2. multiMAXImport- db\_datareader and db\_datawriter
- 3. multiMAXExport- db\_datareader
- 4. For Symmetry 9.0+
  - a. multiMAXTxn- db\_datareader

## Setting Up Symmetry to Synchronize with XPressEntry

## Data Connect

XPressEntry communicates with Symmetry in three ways:

- 1. Pulling data from Database Views
- 2. Pulling data updates from the Data Connect export table
- 3. Data Connect Insert

If you do not have a Data Connect License, please contact your Symmetry Dealer.

## Applying the License Key

- 1. To add the license key to your Symmetry system, go to the Maintenance tab and select **System Licenses**.
- 2. Select **Add** and enter your license key information.

3. Once the license has been applied, restart Symmetry to configure the new options.



#### **Configuring Data Connect**

- 1. Navigate to the Data Import form via **Operation > Data > Data Import**.
- 2. Set the Import **Database Scan Period** to as often as you would like Symmetry to scan for newly imported transaction records. Select **OK**.

## Setup Symmetry Data and Settings

## Handhelds

For every physical XPressEntry handheld reader, you should have two logical readers in the Symmetry System. They should be distinguished with the words Entry/Exit or IN/OUT at the end of them. These readers are only theoretical and represent the location in which an XPressEntry Mobile Reader will be used.

## **XPressEntry LAN Chain**

To begin, you should add the readers to the Symmetry system. To add the readers to the Symmetry system, you:

- 1. Need to be logged in with Installer Permissions
- 2. Must first create or specify a LAN Chain.
  - a. It does not matter what the LAN Chain is named, but it is helpful for the name to be related to XPressEntry for organization purposes. To do this, you must first select a LAN Chain port.
  - b. Select **Client Ports** under the Install tab. Select **New**.
  - c. Select from the list of available ports and fill the other two fields out as shown below.

lient Name:	AMAG-VM	
lient Type:	Client	
ort	Allocation	Baud Rate
OM256 💌	LANnode Chain	19200
37	507	
$\sim$	$\sim$	

- i. **Port** Select a port that is not and will not be in use.
- ii. Allocation Select LANnode Chain.
- d. Select OK.
- After specifying the type of port, select Chains > LAN under the install tab and click New. The IP Address can be outside of the active domain. Make sure that enabled is not checked.

Chain Name: 🚺	XPE Chain	
	LAN Configuration	
LAN Client Name:	AMAG-VM	<u></u>
LAN Port Name:	Network	
LAN Interface	MSS1	
C Use DHCP to obta	in IP Address	-
DHCP Name	et 🗌	
📀 Use static IP Addr	ess	
IP Addres:	s: 1010101 3	
Current Password:		
New Password:		
Time Difference (hrs)	: 00:00 💌	
Optione:		
Continuous 🖲	Periodic O Fallback 🛙	Secondary
Anti-Passback Mode: —		
1000 Carlos Carl	Zanal (Clahal Cliant) C Z	onal (Clobal System)

- a. LAN Chain Name (1)– The name that will carry the Nodes which carry your handheld readers.
- b. **Enabled** (2) Does not need to be enabled because the chain name is logical only.
- c. **IP Address** (3) Fill in a fake IP address. Because the reader is theoretical, it does not actually use an IP address.
- d. When finished, press OK.

## **XPressEntry Nodes**

Once you have created a LAN Chain, you will need to create one or more nodes in order to add XPressEntry Handhelds.

- 1. Under the Install tab, select Node.
- 2. Choose **multiNODE 2150 Series 8DBC** and ensure that **Enabled** is checked. This will allow you to add 8 handhelds to this node. Select **OK**.

de Description: XPres	sEntryNode		
cation:		<u> </u>	
legory:		-	
Setup	Reporting	Door & I/O Controllers	LAN
Chain Name: a MPres	sEntry		×
Node Type: multin	IODE 2150 Series 8DBC		
Node Address: 1 (00	1) 💌	Cards / Transactions:	20,000/15,000 store 💌
Wiegand Format:	: 37-bit HID Prox Card Format		×
Video Server Connection: (None	.)	•	
Options			Anti-Passback Mode
Check node is online before Enable Learn Mode During Node Supports Card Usage Node Supports Disabling of Node Supports Extended T Node Supports User Initiat Supports Intrusion Function	arming Card Download Remaining Door Alarms rigger Commands ad Door Times / PIN Changes halty		C Zonal (Local) C Zonal (Chain) C Timed
Wait Times (Seconds)			
Learn Mode: 0 PC Door	Card Usage: 5	Disable Reader Time: 0	Intry/Exit Delay: 30
Enable Node		🔽 Node in Mainter	nance Mode
Company:		* EOL Resistor: 4	.7 💌
			the second s

- a. Chain Name Select the Chain that you created during the second step.
- b. **Node Type** Determines the number of handhelds that can be stored in this node. Use one of the multiNODE 2150 Series node types.
  - i. multiNODE 2150 Series 8DBC Carries 8 Readers
  - ii. multiNODE 2150 Series 4DBC Carries 4 Readers
  - iii. multiNODE 2150 Series 2DBC Carries 2 Readers

## Adding XPressEntry Handhelds

After creating the LAN chains and nodes, we can add the handheld readers to the system.

- 1. Under the Install tab, select Reader.
- 2. For **each** physical XPressEntry handheld that you have, create **two** logical handhelds in the Symmetry system: one for **entry** and one for **exit**.
- 3. Under the **Setup** tab, select the **company** the reader belongs to.
- 4. In the **Connected To** grouping, select the node you created above as well as the type of controller you had selected for the node. Each reader created in the **same** node will have a **different** port number. Select OK when finished.
  - a. **Reader Description** This is the name of the logical reader. Its name should contain the location of the reader and the directionality (Entry or Exit).
  - b. Node Description This is the node you created.
  - c. Reader Port Number There are eight of them if the node type is multiNODE

#### 2150 Series 8DBC.

ader Description: Fro	nt Door Exit			2	
ation:			•		
tegory:			•		
Setup	Modes	Doors	Option	s	Reporting
wned by Company:	My Company		•		
ccount Number:		Area Number:		Zone Number:	
Connected to	upo como a contra				
Node Description:	XPressEntryNode		50	7	
Controller Description:	XPressEntryNode			7	
Reader Type:	Series 600 using micr	oMAX Format	<u> </u>	-	
Reader Port Number:		C MCLP (20 mA) C R5 485	C Wiegand	Custom Messa	ages (20 mA)
Facility/Customer Code:	999999	Display Additional Reader Type	5	Supports 4 Lin	re Display
Reader State	• Card Only	C Customer Code Only - No Store			
	C Card + PIN	C Customer Code Only - Store			
Anti Passback Options —					
🖲 None	C Soft	Zonal Data:	Timed Data:		
	C Hard	Moves From: 0	Passback Tim	eout (Min):	0
		And into Zone; 0			
Intrusion Arming/Diserming F	leader	Final Exit (Cancel Remaining Exit Tim	e) 🗖 Re	strict Keypad to as	ssigned Area
Entry/Exit Route				140	

In most situations, you should add two readers (an exit and an entry) for each door. Usually, there should be at least one XPressEntry handheld for each door you are tracking. We will go into the way this works when we review XPressEntry.

#### **All Readers**

After creating four physical readers, the list of readers should look like the example below. If the eight-door controller was selected, a separate node will need to be created for the fifth handheld.

Reader Description:		Entries Found: 8
Group By:	(None)	<u> </u>
Chain/Reader:	<ul> <li>Description:</li> </ul>	Node Name:
1/001/1/01	Front Door Exit	XPressEntryNode
1/001/1/02	Front Door Entry	XPressEntryNode
1/001/1/03	Side Door Exit	XPressEntryNode
1/001/1/04	Side Door Entry	XPressEntryNode
1/001/1/05	Inner Door Exit	XPressEntryNode
1/001/1/06	Inner Door Entry	XPressEntryNode
1/001/1/07	Back Door Exit	XPressEntryNode
1/001/1/08	Back Door Entry	XPressEntryNode

## **Enable Synchronization**

XPressEntry uses a module called **Data Manager** to synchronize all data with Symmetry. From the main page of XPressEntry, go to **XPressEntry** / **Settings** (CTRL+S or Tools>Settings)

剩 XPressEn	try (Administr	ator) - 3.4.62	58 - Telaeris (l	Logged In l	Jser: Admi	nistrator, C	o —		×
File	Tools	View	Logou	ut 🧞	Muster			?	Help
Entry/Exit Mu	Settings	Alt+	S listory M	lessages A	dd/Edit Info	Logs			
Zones	Handheld	Status	8	All Zone	es (Occi	ipancy:	<b>9)</b> Curi	rent Occupa	nts 🗸
Filter:	Reports Manual Er Add Hanc	Ctrl+ nter/Exit Users dheld Wizard	R ed: 10/20 In Zone: #: 17Bl Company: Sar	6 02 568 EC npl	Je En Tin Ba Co	nkins, Winfo itered: 10/26 ne In Zone: adge #: F9B/ ompany: San	rd 502 568 A3F npl		1
Building 2	2 (0)			ativity O		in Leet	Dev	0	
	XPressEntry (Administrator) - 3.4.6258 - Telaeris (Logged In User: Administrator, Co – File File Tools File Tools View Alt+S istory Messages Add/Edit Info Logout All Zones (Occupancy: 9) Current Occupants Handheld Status Reports Ctrl+R Manual Enter/Exit Users All Zones (Occupancy: 9) Current Occupants Add Handheld Wizard Building Add Handheld Wizard Building 2 (0) Main Gate 1 Building 2 (0) Main Gate 2 View Company: Sampl Company:								
		User	User Image	Time Stamp	Start Zone	End Zone	Door	Reader	Entry Grante
Ū									
Total Ocour	ancy: 9 Inside	1 Zone	0 Unrea	ad Messages		I Se	rvice Runn	ing Locally	

## General Tab

- 1. From the **Settings** page, select the **Logging** Page.
- 2. Set the Log level to Debug or SQL this will allow you to view log entries during the sync process.
  - a. Max log size 5000 or higher
  - b. Max log age 1 Day or higher
- 3. Once the integration is complete, set the log level to **Critical** so only error messages will be tracked.

Jging							
andheld	INFO	~					
ata Manager	DEBUG	~					
FID	INFO	~					
esktop	INFO	~					
ervice	INFO	~					
ax Log Size	10000 🖨						
ax Log Age (days)	5 🜩						
irge Time (mins)	240 🖨						
	Purge Now						
Include Data Manager GUID in Log							
	ta Manager ID sktop nvice x Log Size x Log Age (days) rge Time (mins) Include Data Manager GUID in Log	ta Manager DEBUG D	ta Manager DEBUG ID INFO I	ta Manager     DEBUG       ID     INFO       INFO     INFO       sktop     INFO       x Log Size     10000 C       x Log Age (days)     5 C       rge Time (mins)     240 C       Include Data Manager GUID in Log	ta Manager     DEBUG       ID     INFO       isktop     INFO       vice     INFO       x Log Size     10000 C       x Log Age (days)     5 C       rge Time (mins)     240 C       Include Data Manager GUID in Log	ta Manager     DEBUG       ID     INFO       sktop     INFO       rvice     INFO       x Log Size     10000 C       x Log Age (days)     SC       greg Time (mins)     240 C       Include Data Manager GUID in Log	ta Manager     DEBUG       ID     INFO       sktop     INFO       vice     INFO       x Log Size     10000¢       x Log Age (days)     5¢       rge Time (mins)     240¢       Include Data Manager GUID in Log

#### **Reader Profile Tab**

The **Reader Profile Tab** is where you configure the handhelds. Make sure the **Door Readers** and **Time Zones** are the only modes that are checked under **Reader Validations**. Select **Save** at the bottom right when finished.



## Data Manager Tab

From the Settings page select the **Data Manager Tab**.

- 1. Type This is the integration type. Select AMAG > Add > Save.
- 2. Go to Data Manager > AMAG in the sidebar menu.
- 3. Setup Data Manager This sends you to the setup form for AMAG's data manager.

all voluments							~
P XPressEntry Settings						- U	×
File Database SQL Import/Export	rt						
	P Turne	AMAC		Δ.	dd	Demoure	
General	Type	AIVIAG	~	A	uu	Lelliove	
Add / Edit Display							
Badges	Name	AMAG		Prefix			
RFID							
User Defined Helds							
Muster Settings	AMAG	G - Prefix() - 03ad455d-50	0f9-4d88-99c8-0c3f514d(	9880			
Logging							
Client Settings							
Wiegand Format Data							
Server							
Service Settings							
Database							
DISABLED AMAG							
Software Event Viewer							
Reader Profiles							
Handheld Functionality							
Reader Validations							
Passwords							
Badge Settings							
Validation Colorn							
Doors							
Trend Settings							
Alert Settings							
Email Settings							
Twilio Alerts							
Copy Resx File							
					Sanity Che	ck Data	
					Save	e Car	icel

### Sync Timers

XPressEntry uses Timers to pull Symmetry Data into XPressEntry.

	💷 🗹 Enable Data Manager Type: AMAG			Setup Data Manager
General Add / Edit Display	Sync Timers Sync Options			
RFID User Defined Fields Muster Settings	Disable Conc Syncs	urrent		Send XPressEntry Activities Now
Question Setup Logging Client Settings	Download Activity Frequency	Set	Clear	Download Activity Now
Wiegand Format Data Server	Occupancy Sync Frequency	Set	Clear	Occupancy Sync Now
Database Data Manager	Partial Sync Update Frequency	Set	Clear	Partial Sync Now
Software Event Viewer Reader Profiles	Full Sync Update Frequency	Set	Clear	Full Sync Now
Handheld Functionality Reader Validations Passwords Badge Settings Custom Display Validation Colors Doors	Custom Sync Update Frequency	Set	Clear	Custom Sync Now
Trend Settings Musters Reader Questionnaires Vent Settings Email Settings Twilio Alerts	Data Manager Live Log View Pause Mirro	or Log To:		Browse

- 1. **Download Activity Frequency** Pulls reader scan records into XPressEntry and stores them in XPressEntry's activity table. This function also updates the zone occupancy.
- 2. **Occupancy Sync Frequency** Updates the zone occupancy without storing the activity records.
- 3. Partial Sync Frequency Updates all tables BUT only updates user, card, and group

data changes that have occurred since the last partial sync.

- 4. **Full Sync Update Frequency** Updates all tables by pulling all necessary records from Symmetry. This function may take some time.
  - a. It is recommended to run a full sync **once per day** in the middle of the night when the system is not busy.
- 5. Custom Sync Frequency Updates a set of tables that the user configures.
  - a. To configure, right click **Custom Sync Now** and select **Edit Custom Sync**. For an AMAG integration, it is recommended to set the following:

Custom	Table Sync				_	
	Add Table					)one
Table	USERS	✓ ✓ Partial?	3 Table	BADGES	✓ Partial?	3
Table	GROUPS_USERS	✓ ✓ Partial?	8			

#### **Sync Options**

ile Database SQL Import/Exp	ort			
	Enable Data Manager Type: AMAG	:	Setup Data	Manager
General Add / Edit Display Badges	Sync Timers Sync Options			
RFID User Defined Fields Muster Settings	Pull DataManager Occupancy Event Process	ssing Retry Count	3	
Question Setup Logging	Pull Data Manager Activities into XPressEntry     DMDrofer			
Client Settings Wiegand Format Data	Push XPressEntry Activities to Data Manager Muster Scann	ned Users never		
Service Settings Database	Send Activities Retry Count 3	10101		
Data Manager DISABLED - AMAG	Utatch Tables via Software Events			
Reader Profiles Handheld Functionality	Message Queue Name \Private\$\DataManagerEvent			
Reader Validations Passwords Badge Settings	Event Processing Loop Limit 10			
Custom Display Validation Colors Doors	Clear Data Manager Settings Clear	r External Data		
Trend Settings Musters Reader Questionnaires	Data Manager Live Log View Pause Mirror Log To:			Browse
Alert Settings Email Settings				
Twilio Alerts				
	1		_	

- 1. Pull Data Manager Occupancy Enables use of the Occupancy Sync.
- 2. **Default Outside Zone** Not used by AMAG.
- 3. Pull Data Manager Activities into XPressEntry Enables use of the Activity Sync.
- 4. **Push XPressEntry Activities to Data Manager** Enables XPressEntry to push Scan data to Symmetry.
- 5. Send Activities Retry Count Number of times XPressEntry will attempt to resend an activity if it fails.
- 6. Watch Tables via Software Events Creates a live data connection to the Access Control System to watch for system changes. Not used by AMAG integration.
- 7. Enable Message Queue Turns on Message Queue for software events to be used instead of database queue. Not used by AMAG integration.
- 8. **Message Queue Name** Name of windows message queue for software events. Not used by AMAG.
- 9. Event Processing Loop limit Max records to process from the event queue. Not used by AMAG.
- 10. Event Processing Retry Count Number of times XPressEntry will attempt to process a message queue event on failure. Not used by AMAG.
- 11. **Default Role** The default XPressEntry Role that will be assigned to users if the integration does not otherwise assign a role. Entrants are recommended but not required.
- 12. **Muster Scanned Users** Enables sync to convert scans from specific readers to be converted into Muster Scans which mark users as safe. Muster readers must be configured in the reader data. Please see *Mustering Documentation* for more details.
- 13. Setup DataManager Button Opens AMAG specific settings.
- 14. Clear DataManager Settings Resets all settings on the two above tabs, as well as the AMAG specific settings.
- 15. Clear External Data Deletes all data synced from AMAG from the XPressEntry Database.

#### Symmetry Setup

The following sections demonstrate how to configure the sync with Symmetry. Once completed, select **Test Connection**, or Save Settings if on the Activity Tab. Then Exit the form.

On the Data Manager tab of the Settings form, select **Save** and **Apply Settings**. You are then ready to complete a full Sync.

#### **Connection** Tab

Press the **Setup Data Manager** button to get the AMAG specific setup screen. Set the database connection string to connect to the Symmetry Database.

Amag Data	Manager	Setup						-		$\times$
Connection	User Pull	Custom Field Mapping	Activity Settings	Test						
Database C	onnection	String								
Data Source	e=amag93	5.ad.telaeris.com,1433;N	letwork Library=DB	BMSSO	CN;trusted_	connection=true				
Connection	String Pase	sword								
					т	est Connect		Clear R	esults	
Result										
						Save And Cl	nse	0	ancel	

- 1. Connection Settings
  - a. Configure the connection string to point to the Symmetry Database. It is recommended that your connection string uses Windows Authentication (Trusted\_Connection=Yes or equivalent Integrated Security).
  - b. If you do not use Windows Authentication, you may hide the password in the connection string by placing it in the Connection String Password box. In the connection string, add **@Password** as a placeholder for your password (as shown in the connection string above).
    - i. This password is **not secure**. Using this feature in a production environment can result in a security breach.
  - c. Select **Test Connect**. If configured correctly, the result will display **Successfully Connected to the Symmetry database!**

#### **User Pull Tab**

Amag Data Manager Setup	- 🗆 X
Connection User Pull Custom Field Mapping Activity Settings Test	
Users View [multiMAX].[dbo].[ViewCardHolderTable]	Users Per Query 1000 🚖
Filter Badges	Visitor Pull Settings
Lost Badges Forced Inactive Badges	Hours Before 3
Stopped Badges Expiration Date Exceeded	Hours After 5
Invalid Date Exceeded	
Custom Badge Number Formats Custom Badge Formats ID 23 All Card Number Custo Organization Category Organization Identifier	&%CARD_NUMBER%%CUSTOMER_CODE% <u>mer Code Agency Code Credential Series</u> <u>Credential Number Individual Credential Issue</u> <u>System Code Person Identifier Person Organization Assc</u>
Prox [Class x x	JSTOMER_CODE%
	Save And Close Cancel

- 1. Users View The database view XPressEntry pulls users from. A custom view can be used, but it must include all fields that the ViewCardHolderTable view contains.
- 2. Users Per Query The number of users that are pulled per query. XPressEntry will continue to query the users table until all records have been pulled.
- 3. Filter Badges Section Does not pull badges from AMAG that contain the selected invalid statuses.
- 4. Visitor Pull Setting In partial syncs, only pulls visitors X number of hours before and after their arrival time.
- 5. Custom Badge Number Formats XPressEntry can define which Symmetry fields make up the card number that XPressEntry will use to identify the badge for 1 or more card formats. Set the ID of the card format, give it a name, and double click the underlined fields in the order that will compose the card number.

## **Custom Field Mapping**

Amag Data Manager Setup	-		×
Connection User Pull Custom Field Mapping Activity Settings Test			
Source Columns Destination Columns			
udf_badge_number v badge_no		$\sim$	R
Source Field XPressEntry Field			
udf_badge_number_badge_no			
•			
Save And Close	Car	ncel	

To custom map a User field from Symmetry's database to XPressEntry's database, type the column name in the **Source** column and select a column name in the **Destination** column. Any field name in the source field column must exist within the **Users View** (see previous section). **Activity Settings Tab** 

Amag Data Manager Setup	- 0	×
Connection User Pull Custom Field Mapping Activity Settings Test		
Badge Field	Hours of Activities To Download 24	*
%EXTERNAL_DATA_2%		
BADGE NO FACILITY CODE EXTERNAL ID EXTERNAL DAT	<u>FA 2</u>	
Customer Code Field		
%FACILITY_CODE%		
BADGE NO FACILITY CODE EXTERNAL ID EXTERNAL DAT	<u>FA 2</u>	
Activity Pull Query	Software Edition HSE	~
Select rt. CardID, rt. TransactionId as TxnID, rt. DeviceID, rt. TransactionTime as Da FROM [multiMAXTxn].[Reporting].[All Transactions] rt WHERE rt. DeviceType = 82 DATEADD(HOUR, -{1}, GETDATE()) And rt.CardID > 0	te TimeOf Txn, rt. TransactionCode as ResponseMnemonic ! And rt. TransactionId > {0} And rt. Transaction Time >	
	Save And Close Cancel	

The Activity Settings tab allows you to format the way XPressEntry pushes Activity records, as well as adjust the query to pull Symmetry Activities.

- 1. Badge Field The badge information XPressEntry will send when submitting activities to Symmetry. In most cases should be %EXTERNAL\_DATA\_2%
- 2. Customer Code Field The facility code XPressEntry will send when submitting activities to Symmetry. In most cases should be %FACILITY\_CODE%
- **3.** Activity Pull Query and Software Edition The software edition usually determines what the activity pull query should be, but activity pull query can be customized if needed.

Select Save Settings once all fields are configured.

#### HSE SR Series Setup

There are a few specific options that need to be selected when syncing XPressEntry with an HSE system:

 Under the User Pull Tab, you are required to set up a Custom Badge Number Format. SR series cards are concatenated together from two fields. Because of this, you must pull both the customer\_code field and card\_number field from AMAG into the badge number within XPressEntry. Enable the Custom Badge Number Format as shown below:

Partial	Sync Users To Do	wnload 100	👙 Users Per Quer	y 1000 🚔			
Users \	View [multiMAX].	[dbo].[ViewCardHolder	Table]	LBuild			
Filter E	Badges			2014 1913			
	Lost Badges	Forced Inact	iive Badges	🗹 Invalid Date Exceed	led 🗹 Exp	piration Date Exc	eeded
	Stopped Badges						
Cust	tom Badge Numbe	r Format		Card Number	Customer Code	IDS Code	PII
CUST	tom Badge Numbe	r Format		Card Number	Customer Code	IDS Code	<u>PI</u>
CUST	tom Badge Numbe	r Format		Card Number	Customer Code	IDS Code	<u>Pi</u>
CUST CUST Source	tom Badge Numbe TOMER_CODE%% e Columns	r Fomat CARD_NUMBER%		Card Number	Customer Code	IDS Code	PII
] Cust CUST Source	tom Badge Numbe TOMER_CODE%% e Columns	r Format CARD_NUMBER%		Card Number	Customer Code	IDS Code	
Cust	tom Badge Numbe <u>FOMER_CODE</u> e Columns Source Field	r Format CARD_NUMBER%		Card Number	Customer Code	IDS Code	<u>Pi</u>
Cust	tom Badge Numbe FOMER_CODE%% e Columns Source Field	r Format CARD_NUMBER* XPressEntry Field		Card Number	Customer Code	IDS Code	
Cust	tom Badge Numbe FOMER_CODE%% e Columns Source Field	r Format CARD_NUMBER%		Card Number	Customer Code	IDS Code	<u>PII</u>
Cust	tom Badge Numbe FOMER_CODE%% e Columns Source Field	r Format CARD_NUMBER%		Card Number	<u>Customer Code</u>	<u>IDS Code</u>	<u>PII</u>
CUST	tom Badge Numbe FOMER_CODE%% e Columns Source Field	r Format CARD_NUMBER%		Card Number	Customer Code	<u>IDS Code</u>	<u>PI</u>

2. Under the Activity Settings Tab, Software Edition should be set to HSE

Amag Data Man	ager Setup					1000		Х
Connection User	r Pull Activity Settings	Test						
Badge Fiel	d		Hours of	Activities To Download	24			+
%EXTERNAL_D	)ATA_2%							
BADGE NO	FACILITY CODE	EXTERNAL ID	EXTERNAL DATA 2					
Customer (	Code Field							
BADGE NO	FACILITY CODE	EXTERNAL ID	EXTERNAL DATA 2					
Activity Pul	ll Query			Software Ed	ition	HSE		×
SELECT rt.Cardl ResponseMnem DATEADD(HOU	ID, rt. TransactionId as 1 onic FROM [multiMAXT JR, -{1}, GETDATE()) A	[xnID, rt.ReaderID as xn].[Reporting].[Read ND rt.CardID > 0	DeviceID, rt.TransactionT lerTransactions] rt WHERE	ìme as DateTimeOfTxn, r rt.TransactionId > {0} A	t.Trans ND rt.T	actionCo ransactio	de as n Time >	

## **Symmetry Sync Check**

The purpose of this section is to help the operator understand exactly what data XPressEntry is pulling. For a quick setup, please navigate to the next section, **Configuring XPressEntry using Symmetry Data**.

## Symmetry > XPressEntry

- 1. Companies > Companies
- 2. Cardholders > Users
- 3. Cards > Badges
- 4. Readers > Reader
- 5. TimeCodes > TimeZones
- 6. Access Codes > Groups
- 7. User/Access Codes > Groups
- 8. Reader Groups > Groups
- 9. User/Reader Groups > Groups
- 10. Reader/Users Permission > Groups

#### **Companies and Readers**

Companies and Readers are the simplest tables to pull from Symmetry. All Companies and Readers should be available to view in their respective tabs.

Eile J Entry/Eat Activity Histo	Tool	s (	Add/Edt I	ew 🦚	Logout		Entr	y/Exit				C	<u>→</u> Help
				E	Externa	al Rec	ord						
Filter;	0		😥 Usen	Companies	Groups	Zones	Rooms	Doors	Readers	RFID	Roles	Timezones	Cer 4
Handhe	da		Nar	10 <sup>-1</sup>					XPressFre	edom S	ettings (o	ptional)	
Server Reader : ALEX-D	ESKTOP		Ent	ry Reader					Freedom 1	Name	Freed	om Board	6
			Doe	v				_	IP Address	8	-		6
								~	TCPIP Po	rt	80	]	
Time to Read 5 Reco	ords: 0.01	secon	nda Ver	fication Zone					Success \	Value		v 2	
Reade	3		AE	Zones				- Y	Enable	e Freed	om Debu	Rela	y Sense
Entry Reader			Ver	fication Group						eue Reg	uests	Key DEFA	UR T
Remote Parking Lot Entry	Reader							×	10000000000		1	149.0411	
Remote Parking Lot Exit	Reader		Pro	file				_	RFID Sett	ings (op	tional)		100
				0				×	RFID Rea	der			× 🗆
			Gu	U				1	Mode			~	ieno 🗌
			1	Class Cred	la etiala i	from All	Deede		Antenna F	Port 1	191	Same Zone 8	intry 📋
				Clear Cred	envals	ITOM AI	Reade	ns	N	o Ass	ociate	d Reade	ts -
				Add Now		Dala	10	1	Courses.	1.11	Das	Innel	
	V 200 G 100		1.1.1	MUU New		Dele	le		Dave		Gdl	NGC1	2

### Users

Here is a sample of a properly synchronized user:

File Tools B View Log	out Entry/Exi Messages Add/Edit II	t Muste	er oups 🤮 Zone:	5 🔲 Doors	Readers	🗞 Roles 🔊 Timezo	ones 📋 Badg	ge Types 📲	Help
	User Permis	sions Contact In	o UDFs/Misc						
Banderas, Antonio	First Name	Last	Name	MI		Photo FP			
Bell, Monica	Monica	Bell							
Crain, Samuel	Company	Sample Compar	ıy	$\sim$					
Frey, George Gale, Sarah	Emp ID				Visitor		1		
Gheller, Henry	Zope	Building 1		JDFs/Misc ne MI Photo FP Visitor Visitor 202 52 PM Change Crop Delete					
Kemp, Mark Lehmen, Corey Louie, Hannah Marshall, James Pennington, Matt Thomas, Michelle		Zone Entry: 07/0 Last Reader:	08 02:02:52 PM			K	X		
	Role	Entrant		$\sim$		Change Cr	op Delete		
	Start Data								
	Start Date								
	Badges (0)	Add Badge	O Delet	e Badge	<ul> <li>View Hist</li> </ul>	ory 😑 Print E	adge		
	Badge	BDF1		Activated	l Expire	ed Date Invalid	Ba	adge Type	
	▶ 457			5/27/2020	)				~
	752			5/20/2020					V
Time to Read 15 Records: 1.54 seco	Add New	Delet	e S	ave	Cancel				

All External Records (From Symmetry) will display in red as an **External Record** at the top of the form. This label will not display for any records that were created from within XPressEntry.

XPressEntry will pull the user's **image** and **badge number** from Symmetry. The badge number can be seen at the bottom of the screen.

#### **User Permissions**

Users in XPressEntry have the **same permissions** to each reader as they do in Symmetry. This is regardless of whether the user is assigned an Access Code, Reader Group, or direct access to a Reader. However, the way in which the **data** is displayed is a little **different**.

The following is an example of the permissions a user has in **Symmetry** vs. how the data is displayed in **XPressEntry**.



ast Name:	Abraham	First Name:	Fiona		Middle Name:		
	Card Details	Access Rights	1	Personal	Locator	Biometrics	
8	Assigned Access Rights					Pag	e View
6	Roma Kyss Codes     Reader Groups     Reader Groups     Reader Groups	© SkiloEishr				Sh	ow All
	Entry Rea	der				E	pand
	Reader Groups					Cc	lapse
	Areas Intrusion System Users						sting
						A	ssign
						Re	move
						C	ates
						R	eset

**XPressEntry** 

Elle	2 - Alex (Te Tools Messages	Ad	View	gged in Use	r: Admir Logou tivity	istrator,	Compar	iy) y/Exit					× Help
				E	xterna	al Rec	ord						
ter:	0 0	1	[Users ]	Companies	Groups	Zones	Rooms	Doors	Readers	RFID	Roles	Timezones	Ce · ·
Ian, Dominic Ian, Vrginia Ian, Ava Ian, Ela Ian, Ela Ian, Ela Ian, Ela Ian, Ela Ian, Ava Ian, Bangani Motoria Ian, Bangani Motoria Ian, Mangani Ian,			Acces Buildi Direct Zon	ng Groups ng Group Six Zone Permit e Name	ToEight isions		_		0	Ad	d User to w User to	Group	^
sker, Ella sker, Abigail al, Christian al, Ella ell, Vanessa ell, Lillian		~				Dela			~	Sho	w All Zon is Permiss	es User ion to	•

To see the readers Fiona has access to, navigate to the **Groups** tab. Select **Building Group SixToEight** from the list on the left.

Entry/Ext	Eile	Messag	ges A	B) Viel dd/Edit Inf	<ul> <li>Server Ac</li> </ul>	Logout	0	2 <sup>Entr</sup>	y/Exit				C	D Helt
					E	xterna	I Rec	ord						
Filter:		0	¢ 🕺	Users	Companies	Groups	Zones	Rooms	Doors	Readers	RFID	Roles	Timezones	Ce •
All Acces	\$			Name										
V reader	rs All Day			Buildr	ng Group StxT	oEight								
luilding (	aroup Momings			🗌 ls	Default Group									
Building V	Nork Hours			Reade	rs Zones	Users C	etificate	5						
Entry Head	ler Momings			Reade	ris .			1	Selecte	d		_		
No Accer Parking L Remote F Remote F	ss ot Reader Group Parking Lot Entry P Parking Lot Ent Re	Reader M seder Mo	lomings mings	Entry Exit R Remot Serve	Reader sader te Parking Lot te Parking Lot r Reader : ALI	Entry Rea Exit Read EX-DESK1	ide ler fOF	->	Entry Re Exit Rea	eader (StxT ader (SixTo	oEight) Eight)			
				Timez	ones									
				All De Morrin SocTo	y Every Day Igs Eight									
								<-						
				A	dd New		Dele	te	4	Save		Can	cel	

Permissions in Symmetry can be assigned in 3 different ways.

1. Access Code – XPressEntry pulls all readers associated with the Access Code at the reader's specified time.

- 2. Reader Group XPressEntry creates a Group for each Time Code a Reader Group uses.
  - a. Ex 5 people are given access in Symmetry to Reader Group 1 between 9 AM and 5 PM. 7 People are given access in Symmetry to Reader Group 1 between 6 PM and 4 AM.
  - b. XPressEntry creates 2 groups 1 for the day shift and 1 for the night shift. Each group contains all readers in Reader Group 1 and access at the specified time.
- 3. **Direct Reader Access** XPressEntry creates a Group for each Reader/Time Code combination used in the Symmetry Database.
  - a. Ex 5 people are given access in Symmetry to Reader 1 between 9 AM and 5
     PM. 7 people are given access in Symmetry to Reader 1 between 6 PM and 4 AM.
  - b. XPressEntry creates 2 groups, one for the rest group of people and one for the second with access to the single reader at the specified time.

#### Time Zones

Time Codes are pulled from Symmetry to create Time Zones. If a single Time Code has multiple standard time ranges for different days of the week, XPressEntry will create additional intervals to support this.

ne Code Description	Mornings										c	atagor	ya -	Access	Right	
Stan	dard Weekly Hours	1	Holiday Hours						Calendar Overview							
Select required time	s for each day of the week															
Monday:	Morning Weekday	-	16	02	0[4	Øŝ	•	10	1/2	14	1)6	18	20	42	02:00	08.00
Tuesday:	Morning Weekday		16	de.	0[4	Øs	13	10	1/2	14	16	18	20	2/2	02.00	08:00
Wednesday:	Morning Weekday		16	¢.	0[4	0je	8	10	12	1[4	16	10	2þ	42	02:00	09:00
Thursday:	Morning Weekday		16	¢	0[4	Øs	8	10	12	14	16	18	ą	22	02.00	08.00
Friday:	Morning Weekday		16	d <b>e</b>	04	Øs	1	10	1/2	1 4	16	10	20	22	02:00	08:00
Seturday:	Morning Weekend		19	0	1	06	d8	10	1/2	1/4	16	18	2þ	\$2	02.00	05:30
Sunday:	Morning Weekend		19	0		06	d S	10	12	14	16	18	ąo	2/2	02.00	05:30
															N	54V

🗐 XPressEntry - 2.3.6312 - Alex (Telaeris Inc	.) (Logged I	In User: A	Administ	rator, C	ompar	iy)						-		×
File 👭 Tools 🚱	View Q	2	.ogout	0	Entr	y/Exit							?	Help
Entry/Exit Activity History Messages Add/E	dt Info Sen	ver Activi	ty											
			Extern	nal Re	cord	ł								
Fiter:	Users Co	mpanies	Groups	Zones	Room	ns Di	oors	Read	ders	RFID	Roles	Timezones	Certificate	
All Day Every Day Momings	Name						_							
	Sectoringen													
	Description											_		
	1000													
	Intervals		<b>F</b> . 1			141 3		F	0					
		start	20.00.00	Mon	lue	Wed	In	Pm	Say	Sun				
		and the set	20.00.00					1						
	Interval D	-	✓ Saturday ✓ Sunday			Start Time								
	Mond Tuesi	Ĕ							6	00:00 AM	-			
	Wedr	1					End Time		8	00:00 PM				
	Friday	iday /										a finite of		
			0705			-				11.1				
	Add	Ű	Save Interval			O Delete Interval Save			2					
Terris De 12 De este 0.04	Add New		Delete							1	Cancel		1	2
Time to Head 3 Hecords: 0.04 seconds	54 MOIO				000									

## **Configuring XPressEntry using Symmetry Data**

Now that XPressEntry has Symmetry's database, it needs to be configured to use this information. The tabs that need to be configured are the Doors, Readers, and Zones.

## Doors

**Entry/Exit** permissions in XPressEntry are set by doors. Doors contain **two readers** – an exit and an entry reader.

**Door access** is determined by the User's access to the door's reader. For **entry**, permission is based on the user's access to the door's **external entry reader**. For **exit**, permission is based on the user's access to the door's **external exit reader**. Doors should be set by the user for each Handheld Reader in XPressEntry.

The XPressEntry Integration with Symmetry does not require additional start and end zones. However, XPressEntry can help keep track of what **zones** people are in if configured correctly.

XPressEntry - 3.4.6258 - Telaeris (Logged In Us	er: Administrator, Company)					-	- 0	×
🌀 File 🏼 👭 Tools 🛞 View 🔌 Lo	ogout 📎 Entry/Exit 🕅	Muster						Help
Entry/Exit Muster Events HealthCheck Activity Histor	ry Messages Add/Edit Info Logs							
Filter:	📫 🧿 🐇 Users 🚊 Comp	oanies 👋 Groups	Zones 📕 Doors	Readers 🍇	Roles 💿 Timezone	s 📫 Badge Types	Auster Site	IS
Main Gate 1	Door Name							
Main Gate 2	Main Gate 1							
	Start Zone							
	Outside			~				
	End Zone							
	Building 1			~				
	Door RFID Tag	<b>]</b> #						
	External Entry	Reader						
	Main Gate Ent	ry		× x				
	External Exit D	aadar						
	Main Gate Exit	eauei						
					_			
Time to Read 2 Records: 0	0.51 seconds Add New	Delete	Save	Cancel				
Activity Occupancy Partial Full   Total (	Occupancy: 9 Inside 1 Zone	1	0 Unread Messag	ies		Service Running L	ocally	

- 1. **Zones** For each door, set the start zone and end zone. This will enter a user in the specified zone when they enter or exit (or scan at a Symmetry reader).
- 2. External Readers Attach the logical entry and exit readers that you created in Symmetry to a door.

XPressEntry requires that you manually set up the doors in the system. There should be a door in XPressEntry for each physical station where an employee will have a handheld.

- 1. To create a door, select **Add New** at the bottom of the form. Enter a name that clearly describes what this door represents.
- 2. Select **Outside** for Start Zone and **Building** for End Zone.
- 3. External Entry Reader is one of the entry readers you created in Symmetry. External Exit Reader is one of the Exit readers you created in Symmetry.

Doors can also be added for each of the physical door readers. If XPressEntry is set up to pull activities, it will move people in the system based on the **reader** they were scanned at and the **zones** attached to the door.

#### Readers

In XPressEntry's AMAG integration, it is not necessary to associate any reader in the system with a handheld. This association can be done **on the handheld** when it comes time to scan.

A handheld unit can logically represent **any reader** in the building. When the handheld is issued to an employee at a specific door, the employee must first **set the door** on the handheld. The XPressEntry Reader that the handheld represents is based on whether the handheld is in **entry mode or exit mode**.

- 1. Ex You have handheld A stationed at **Door A**.
- 2. Door A has two readers associated with it Reader A-Entry and Reader A-Exit.
- 3. The employee holding the handheld sets the handheld's door to Reader A. When the

employee sees a cardholder walking towards the building, he sets the handheld to **Entry** mode and scans the cardholder's badge. The handheld in entry mode identifies itself as reader **A-Entry** and sends an activity to the server.

- 4. Later, there is heavy volume exiting **Door B**.
- 5. Door B has two readers associated with it: Reader **B-Entry** and Reader **B-Exit**. The employee from Door A is called to help and brings **Handheld A**. He sets the door on his handheld to **Door B** and the mode to **Exit**. When he begins scanning people walking out of the door, the handheld identifies itself as Reader **B-Exit** and sends each scan as an activity to the server.

For more information about the functionality of XPressEntry, please look at the XPressEntry manual.

## Activities

XPressEntry will synchronize activities to Symmetry if that option has been set by Data Manager. If XPressEntry is configured to **push** activities, they will appear in the **Activity View** (Home > Monitoring > Activity). If XPressEntry is configured to **pull** activities, the **occupancy** of the system will change each time a person scans at a reader that is mapped to a door in XPressEntry.

You may want to pull activities if:

- 1. You want to use XPressEntry to manage Emergency Evacuations.
  - a. XPressEntry uses Symmetry activities to determine who is on and who is off campus.
  - b. In the case of a mustering event, XPressEntry will have an up-to-date list of who is on site on this day.
  - c. Using this list, XPressEntry can be utilized to **muster** or mark people as safe to create a list of people who are still on site.
- 2. You want to use XPressEntry's features to determine who is on site, and what areas people are in.